**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

OCT 04 2016

The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge, S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2014-001631

Letron S. Davis, ..... Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina, ..... Petitioner.

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHANNA C. VALENZUELA  
Sr. Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 79834

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. The post-conviction relief judge erred by finding that plea counsel erroneously advised Respondent regarding parole eligibility where plea counsel reasonably interpreted a change in the law and misapplication of the law by an administrative agency resulting in a temporary change to Respondent's parole classification is not attributable to counsel.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2011, the Marion County Grand Jury indicted Respondent for two counts of distribution of cocaine base. (App. pp. 81–82). William V. Meetze, Esquire, (“plea counsel”) represented Respondent. (App. p. 1.). On December 6, 2011, Respondent entered a negotiated plea of guilty as indicted before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. (App. p. 4, line 25–p.5, line 2). Judge Seals accepted the negotiation and sentenced Respondent to concurrent terms of seven years’ imprisonment. (App. pp. 83–84).

Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief on June 1, 2012. (App. pp. 11–18). Petitioner filed a return on or about February 22, 2013. (App. p. 19–23). The Honorable Michael G. Nettles (“the post-conviction relief judge”) convened an evidentiary hearing on the application at the Florence County Courthouse on February 11, 2014. (App. p. 24). Respondent was present and represented by Marcus L. Woodson, Esquire. (App. p. 24). The post-conviction relief judge granted relief in two separate orders. The first order was dated March 3, 2014. (App. p. 80).<sup>1</sup> The second order was dated April 14, 2014, and filed April 23, 2014. (App. pp. 64–71). Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration on or about April 30, 2014. (App. p. 72–76). The post-conviction relief judge denied the motion by order filed May 9, 2014. (App. p. 77–78) On June 27, 2014, the post-conviction relief judge issued an order rescinding the March 3, 2014 order and clarifying the timeliness of Petitioner’s motion for reconsideration. (App. p. 79–80).

---

<sup>1</sup> No copy of this first order is included in the appendix because Petitioner never received a copy of the order, as outlined in the post-conviction relief judge’s order rescinding this first order. (App. p. 79–80). Upon information and belief, the order was identical to the order included in the appendix.

## ARGUMENT

This case involves correct advice from plea counsel about parole eligibility based on a reasonable interpretation of a change in law where that law was temporarily misapplied by an administrative agency.

In 2010, the General Assembly passed the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act. 2010 S.C. Acts No. 273. Prior to the act, second-offense distribution of cocaine base was a Class A felony. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-90(A) (Supp. 2001). As such, sentences for this crime were not eligible for parole and required service of eighty-five percent (85%) of the sentence before being eligible for release. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 24-13-100, -150(a) (Supp. 2000). In revising the law, the General Assembly added a provision in the distribution statute that provided:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a person convicted and sentenced pursuant to this subsection for a first offense or second offense may have the sentence suspended and probation granted, and is eligible for parole, supervised furlough, community supervision, work release, work credits, education credits, and good conduct credits.

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B) (Supp. 2012).

Based on a challenge by an inmate that went through the Administrative Law Court (ALC), the Court of Appeals in Bolin v. S.C. Dep't of Corrections, 415 S.C. 276, 781 S.E.2d 914 (Ct. App. 2015), analyzed the new provisions of this statute. In Bolin, the DOC argued that despite the amended language in section 44-53-375(B) making a person eligible for parole, it was still interpreting the offense as no-parole unless the inmate was granted parole. Bolin, 415 S.C. at 283, 781 S.E.2d at 917. Finding that **the plain language** of the statute made it “**unreasonable**” to characterize these parole eligible offenses as non-parole offenses and relying on the “**expressly stated**” legislative intent to find that the DOC “**ignore[d]** the purpose of the

Act,” the Court of Appeals reversed the ALC and held that a “second offense under § 44-53-375(B) was no longer a no-parole offense.” Bolin, 415 S.C. at 284–86, 781 S.E.2d at 918–19 (emphasis added).

Ironically, the post-conviction relief judge granted relief, finding counsel ineffective because he applied the plain language of the statute to advise Respondent that he would be parole eligible. This was error.

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). Regarding allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the proper measure of performance is whether counsel provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). The Court strongly presumes plea counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690).

The Court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of plea counsel. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). First, the applicant must prove plea counsel’s performance was deficient. Id. Under this prong, the Court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, plea counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

On appeal, this Court must affirm the post-conviction relief judge's grant of post-conviction relief only if there is probative evidence to support his findings. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (citing McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995); Cherry, 300 S.C. at 115, 386 S.E.2d at 624). However, the Court must overturn the post-conviction relief judge if there is no probative evidence to support his findings. Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 348, 495 S.E.2d 768, 769 (1998) (citing Satterwhite v. State, 325 S.C. 254, 481 S.E.2d 709 (1997)); Holland v. State, 322 S.C. 111, 470 S.E.2d 378 (1996).

I. **The post-conviction relief judge erred by finding that plea counsel erroneously advised Respondent regarding parole eligibility where plea counsel reasonably interpreted a change in the law and misapplication of the law by an administrative agency resulting in a temporary change to Respondent's parole classification is not attributable to counsel.**

Reversal is necessary in this case because the post-conviction relief judge's finding that plea counsel misadvised Respondent about his parole eligibility ignores the constitutional mandate to evaluate counsel's advice in light of the circumstances at the time the advice is given. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 ("A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time."). The post-conviction relief judge properly found plea counsel advised Respondent he would be eligible for parole and his plea would not subject him to the "85% rule." See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-150(a) (persons sentenced for no parole offenses must serve eighty-five percent of the actual term of imprisonment). Plea counsel did testify he advised Respondent his sentence was parole eligible based on changes in the law.<sup>2</sup> (App. p. 43, lines 6–10; p. 58, lines

---

<sup>2</sup> Plea counsel's willingness to engage in hindsight at the PCR hearing does not amount to evidence of ineffectiveness. See Wright v. Hopper, 169 F.3d 695, 707 (11th Cir. 1999)

16-22). However, plea counsel further testified he never actually promised Respondent a specific amount of time he would have to serve, merely that it would be less than 85%. (App. p. 42, line 23–p. 43, line 6).

Plea counsel also testified he later discussed a similar case with the Department of Corrections (“DOC”). (App. p. 45, line 13–p. 46, line 22). Plea counsel testified the DOC informed him Respondent would serve 85% of his sentence unless granted parole. (App. p. 46, lines 3–16). As outlined in Bolin, prior to the Court of Appeals’ decision in November of 2015, the DOC was operating under this misreading of the statute. It was the DOC—**not** plea counsel—that was determined to be misinterpreting the statute.

*A. Respondent is in fact parole eligible*

As an initial matter, Respondent’s DOC records indicate he received a parole hearing on November 30, 2012. (App. p. 85; p. 86) Because plea counsel advised Respondent he would be parole eligible, and Respondent actually is parole eligible, plea counsel’s advice was reasonable. Respondent’s allegations against plea counsel are simply his attempt to receive a benefit—release from confinement—denied to him by appropriate authority. The post-conviction relief judge erred in finding plea counsel ineffective simply because Respondent had not yet been paroled at the time of the hearing.

---

(“Because ineffectiveness is a question which we must decide, admissions of deficient performance by attorneys are not decisive.” (internal citations omitted)); Edwards v. LaMarque, 475 F.3d 1121, 1126 (9th Cir. 2007) (en banc) (a trial court is not obligated to “accept a self-proclaimed assertion of trial counsel”); Gentry v. Sinclair, 576 F.Supp.2d 1130, 1154 n.38 (W.D. Wash. 2008) (finding “counsel’s current regret about their performance . . . does not support a claim that trial counsel performed deficiently at the time of trial”).

***B. Plea counsel's advice regarding parole was correct***

Plea counsel testified he based his advice on a reasonable interpretation of the changes in law. (App. p. 42, lines 11–21). He discussed the amendment with other members of the bar, all of whom had a similar interpretation. (App. p. 44, lines 13–23). In fact, the Court of Appeals eventually held that the DOC's interpretation was not only incorrect, but "unreasonable," and charges such as those to which Respondent pleaded guilty were in fact "no longer no-parole offenses" regardless of whether Respondent was granted parole. Bolin, 415 S.C. at 285-86, 781 S.E.2d at 918–19.

Plea counsel reasonably based his advice on the plain language of the amendment regarding parole eligibility prior to Applicant's plea. The General Assembly's revision of the law in the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act, 2010 S.C. Acts No. 273, added a provision in the distribution statute that provided:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a person convicted and sentenced pursuant to this subsection for a first offense or second offense may have the sentence suspended and probation granted, and is eligible for parole, supervised furlough, community supervision, work release, work credits, education credits, and good conduct credits.

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-375(B) (Supp. 2012). Plea counsel and the South Carolina Court of Appeals interpreted the plain language of this paragraph to mean a sentence for second-offense distribution was now parole eligible. Plea counsel's interpretation certainly is reasonable in light of Bolin, the expressly stated legislative intent, and the clear change in the law. See Cannon v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs., 371 S.C. 581, 584, 641 S.E.2d 429, 430 (2007) ("It is presumed the Legislature, in adopting an amendment to a statute, intended to make some change in the existing law." (citing Vernon v. Harleysville Mut. Cas. Co., 244 S.C. 152, 135 S.E.2d 841 (1964))); Stone v. State, 313 S.C. 533, 535, 443 S.E.2d 544, 545 (1994) ("When two

statutes are in conflict, the more recent and specific statute should prevail so as to repeal the earlier, general statute.” (citing Higgins v. State, 307 S.C. 446, 415 S.E.2d 799 (1992); Hair v. State, 305 S.C. 77, 406 S.E.2d 332 (1991)). Plea counsel’s advice that Respondent would be parole eligible and serve less than 85% of his sentence was reasonable, and the post-conviction relief judge erred in faulting plea counsel for relaying this reasonable advice to Respondent.

***C. DOC’s misinterpretation  
of the amendment is not attributable to plea counsel***

Further, plea counsel was not required to be clairvoyant or prophetic in anticipating a contrary and incorrect interpretation would be in place *temporarily*. Gilmore v. State, 314 S.C. 453, 445 S.E.2d 454 (1994), overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999) (“We have never required an attorney to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law which were not in existence at the time of trial.”); see also, Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 426 S.E.2d 764 (1993); see also, Robinson v. State, 308 S.C. 74, 417 S.E.2d 88 (1992) (counsel not ineffective for failing to use a defense that would not receive acceptance until several years after the trial); Weaver v. Palmateer, 455 F.3d 958, 966 (9th Cir. 2006) (clairvoyance is not a required attribute of effective representation); Larrea v. Bennett, 368 F.3d 179 (2d Cir. 2004) (failure to predict state law is not ineffectiveness). Plea counsel gave a reasonable interpretation of the changes in the law, which he discussed with other members of the bar. Plea counsel’s advice cannot be deficient where no appellate court had interpreted this new law at the time. In finding plea counsel ineffective, the post-conviction relief judge ignored the constitutional requirement that he must “determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690.

Plea counsel provided advice based on a reasonable interpretation of a change in law. The record indicates plea counsel gave this advice after careful consideration and consultation with other members of the bar. Such performance goes above and beyond the requirements of adequate representation.

***D. Without establishing deficient performance, this Court does not reach prejudice to Respondent***

Finally, this Court should reject arguments that Respondent was prejudiced by the accurate advice of counsel that was misinterpreted by the DOC. The Court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of plea counsel. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 115, 386 S.E.2d at 624. **First**, the applicant must prove plea counsel’s performance was deficient. Id. Only after determining plea counsel’s performance was not reasonable “under prevailing professional norms,” id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688), does the Court reach the second prong of determining whether plea counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The post-conviction relief judge abandoned his duty to “indulge a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance[.]” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. Instead, he placed upon plea counsel a duty to predict the actions of an administrative department of government—an “unreasonable” interpretation of the amendment—over which he has no control. Such hindsight analysis and burden shifting was erroneous. Accordingly, the post-conviction relief judge’s order must be reversed.

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court reverse the post-conviction relief judge's decision to grant relief to Respondent and vacate the order granting relief.