ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Marion County  
Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC - 5 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

LETRON DAVIS,

RESPONDENT,

v

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001631

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court’s finding that Respondent satisfied his burden for relief by establishing ineffective assistance of counsel where plea counsel was deficient in providing Respondent incorrect advice concerning the collateral consequences of his plea and Respondent was prejudiced because it was uncontroverted that, but for counsel’s advice, he would not have accepted the negotiated sentence and pled guilty, was supported by “any evidence” presented at the PCR hearing.**

### Introduction

The PCR court properly found that plea counsel Meetze rendered ineffective assistance of counsel where he provided Respondent Davis with inaccurate advice regarding the percentage of his seven-year sentence that he would have to serve to be released. App. 68 – 70. Meetze advised Davis that pursuant to a revision to S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-375(B), his offenses were parole eligible such that he would not be subject to the “85% percent rule.” App. 43, ll. 6-10; App. 44, ll. 17-20; App. 52, ll. 12-16; App. 58, l. 8-19; see S.C. CODE ANN. § 24-13-150(A) (requiring an inmate convicted of a no-parole offense to serve at least eighty-five percent of his sentence before he is eligible for early release, discharge, or community supervision). Though Meetze had consulted other members of the bar about his interpretation, he did not consult the DOC about how they interpreted and were implementing the statutory changes prior to Davis’ plea. Meetze later learned that the DOC was still requiring service of eighty-five percent of the inmate’s sentence unless the inmate was granted parole at an earlier date. He advised Davis to institute the PCR action. App. 30, ll. 8-20; App. 43, ll. 15-18; App. 45, l. 13 – 47, l. 16.

Both Davis and Meetze agreed that the actual amount of time that Davis would have to serve was integral to his decision to plead guilty. In fact, Davis had rejected two of the solicitor’s prior plea offers. App. 29, ll. 21-23; App. 43, ll. 11-12; App. 43, ll. 19-22. Thus, the PCR court properly determined that plea counsel “was deficient by providing incorrect advice concerning the collateral consequences of Davis’ guilty plea” and that Davis was prejudiced because “but for

counsel's advice, Davis would not have accepted th[e] negotiated sentence and guilty plea.” App. 70.

### *Discussion*

#### ***Strickland Test and Standard of Review***

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a PCR applicant has the burden of proving counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result at trial would have been different. Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. The United States Supreme Court specifically ruled that “a defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Id. Moreover, the Court ruled that: “**The ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged.** In every case the court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.” Id. at 696 (emphasis added).

The United States Supreme Court has held that “[g]uilty pleas are no more foolproof than full trials to the court or jury. . . . Accordingly, we take great precautions against unsound results.” Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 758, 90 S.Ct. 1463 (1970). An “unsound result” occurs when a defendant does not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently plead guilty. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709 (1969). Therefore, in the context of a guilty plea, the deficiency prong inquiry turns on whether the plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered. Anderson v.

State, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2000); see also Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985) (“The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is ‘whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.’” (quoting North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31(1970)). “The second, or ‘prejudice,’ requirement ... focuses on whether counsel’s constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Hill, 474 U.S. 52 at 59. In other words,

A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.

Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 572, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011) (quoting Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009)); see also Hill, 474 U.S. at 59 (footnote omitted).

Upon appellate review, this Court gives great deference to the PCR court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005). This court also “gives great deference to a PCR court’s findings where matters of credibility are involved.” Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010). It is well settled that “[i]n reviewing the PCR court’s decision, an appellate court is concerned only with whether any evidence of probative value exists to support that decision.” Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013); Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E.2d 416 (2009); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). Accordingly, the Court will affirm if *any evidence* of probative value in the record exists to support the finding of the PCR court. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626. In the present case, there was far more evidence supporting the PCR court’s findings than the minimal amount required for this Court to affirm.

### Plea Counsel's Deficiency

The evidence at the PCR hearing reflected that Meetze advised Davis that he would serve less than eighty-five percent of his sentence. App. 43, ll. 6-10; App. 44, ll. 17-20; App. 52, ll. 12-16; App. 58, l. 8-19. The PCR court found both Davis' and Meetze's testimony "equally credible." App. 68. Meetze's advice was inaccurate because the DOC, which implemented the statutory changes following the passing of the omnibus bill, still required service of eighty-five percent of the sentence unless the offender was released earlier on parole. App. 43, ll. 15-18; App. 46, ll. 10-16. Davis and Meetze both testified that Davis' decision to plead guilty was induced by the erroneous advice that he would serve less than eighty-five percent of his sentence. App. 29, ll. 21-23; App. 43, ll. 11-12; App. 43, ll. 19-22.

The PCR court properly determined "that even though counsel need not inform a defendant of a plea's collateral consequences, if counsel affirmatively guarantees those collateral consequences, that attorney has an obligation to be correct." App. 70. In Strader v. Garrison, 611 F.2d 61, 65 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1979), the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals held:

[T]hough parole eligibility dates are collateral consequences of the entry of a guilty plea of which a defendant need not be informed if he does not inquire, **when he is grossly misinformed about it by his lawyer, and relies upon that misinformation, he is deprived of his constitutional right to counsel.** When the erroneous advice induces the plea, permitting him to start over again is the imperative remedy for the constitutional deprivation.

(emphasis added). In Hinson v. State, 297 S.C. 456, 377 S.E.2d 338 (1989), this Court found that counsel was ineffective where Hinson entered his plea in reliance upon his attorney's erroneous advice that he would be parole eligible in ten years rather than twenty years. In Ray v. State, 303 S.C. 374, 401 S.E.2d 151 (1991), this Court found counsel ineffective where she advised Ray that he *would* be sentenced to life without parole when in reality, he *may* have received a sentence of seventy-five years without parole and *could* have received as little as ten

years and it was uncontroverted that Ray would not have pled guilty absent that advice. In Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 402 S.E.2d 484 (1991), this Court again found that counsel was ineffective, where he misinformed Alexander that he would face a potential life sentence if he proceeded to trial and Alexander would not have pled guilty but for the erroneous sentencing advice.

There is little advice in the criminal defense realm that can be given with absolute certainty. While an attorney can give advice on a sentencing range, it is rare that he can advise the client what his exact sentence will be absent a judge who agrees to be bound by a negotiated sentence. See Ray, 303 S.C. at 376, 401 S.E.2d at 152-53 (recognizing the distinction between advice as to a potential sentence defendant “may” or “could” receive and advice as to what sentence the defendant “would” receive). Similarly, an attorney can discuss potential defenses with a client, but cannot guarantee that a trial judge will allow presentation of evidence in support of the defense or that the jury would be persuaded by it. Thus, an attorney must be careful to couch advice such that the client understands which advice is unequivocal and which is part of a discussion of potentials and probabilities.

Petitioner argues that the PCR court’s decision imposed an unreasonable requirement that plea counsel be “clairvoyant.” The cases cited by Petitioner, however, deal with subsequent changes in the law or unanticipated witness testimony. See Gilmore v. State, 314 S.C. 453, 445 S.E.2d 454 (1994), *overruled on other grounds by* Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999) (finding trial counsel not ineffective in failing to request a King<sup>3</sup> charge at Gilmore’s

---

<sup>3</sup> State v. King, 158 S.C. 251, 155 S.E. 409 (1930). A King instruction requires the jury to resolve any reasonable doubt as to whether defendant was guilty of greater or lesser offense in favor of lesser offense. Gilmore, 314 S.C. at 455-56, 445 S.E.2d at 455. This Court noted in Gilmore that due to revisions in the legal definition of reasonable doubt, the King charge may now be considered “unnecessary and archaic.” Id. at 456 n.1, 445 S.E.2d at 456 n.1.

trial for drug offenses where the applicability of King to cases other than murder was not decided until over a year after Gilmore's trial); Robinson v. State, 308 S.C. 74, 78, 417 S.E.2d 88, 91 (1992) (finding trial counsel not ineffective for failing to present battered woman's syndrome in the context of her self-defense claim where trial took place six years before Supreme Court recognized battered woman's syndrome as relevant to claim of self-defense); Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 426 S.E.2d 764 (1993) (finding trial counsel not ineffective for failing to interview the victim where victim was a witness for the State and whose testimony changed only after the trial); see also Kirkpatrick v. State, 306 S.C. 359, 412 S.E.2d 389 (1991) (finding trial counsel not ineffective for failing to anticipate or discover co-defendant's attorney's erroneous advice regarding parole eligibility).

In Smith v. Williams, 596 S.E.2d 112, 113 (Ga. 2004), the Georgia Supreme Court found plea counsel was deficient where she advised Smith that he would be parole eligible after service of five years of his fifteen year sentence, unaware of new parole board guidelines that required service of 90% of the sentence. The Court found that counsel was deficient in not discovering the 90% rule and consequently misinforming Smith about his parole eligibility. 596 S.E.2d at 113. The case was remanded for consideration of prejudice. Id. Notably, the Court rejected the state's argument that counsel "conducted a diligent search and did not discover the new parole guidelines," finding that the guidelines were "reasonably available to criminal defense attorneys." In Davis v. Murrell, 619 S.E.2d 662, 663-64 (Ga. 2005), the Georgia Supreme Court similarly found plea counsel ineffective where he erroneously told Davis that he would be eligible for sentence review and parole, though his conviction for a violent felony made him ineligible for both and Davis testified that had he known he had to serve the entire sentence, he would have gone to trial. The Court ruled that in both cases, Smith and Davis, plea counsel's

advice to their client was “so inaccurate that it falls outside the permitted range of competence.” 619 S.E.2d at 663.

Here, plea counsel admitted that his advice to Davis was that he would **not** have to serve eighty-five percent of his seven year sentence. App. 43, ll. 6-10. He and Davis later learned that the advice was incorrect because, unless paroled, the DOC would require him to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence prior to his release. App. 43, ll. 15-18; App. 46, ll. 10-16. While Meetze opined that his interpretation of the law was more in line with the goal of the omnibus bill to alleviate prison overcrowding, he admitted that it was the DOC’s “call to make and not [his].” App. 44, l. 21 – 46, l. 22; App. 43, ll. 15-22. Thus, plea counsel recognized that the DOC was free to interpret the new statute differently, unless or until ordered otherwise by the courts. Despite that fact, he assured Davis that he would not be required to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence. App. 43, ll. 6-10. Sometime later, Meetze was contacted by another client of his, who advised him of DOC’s contrary interpretation. App. 45, ll. 10-21.

Meetze did say that he had discussed Davis’ case with other defense attorneys and prosecutors and that his impression was that they all agreed with his interpretation of the statute. App. 44, l. 9 – 45, l. 9. However, he failed to discuss the interpretation with the relevant agency. It was not until Meetze’s other client contacted him that Meetze e-mailed an attorney at the DOC, who confirmed DOC’s interpretation of the statutory changes. App. 45, l. 10 – 47, l. 5. Importantly, the amendments from the 2010 Omnibus Bill went into effect on June 2, 2010, a year and a half before Davis’ plea in December 2011. S.B. 1154, 2010 S.C. Acts 273. Meetze certainly could have contacted DOC regarding their interpretation of the new law prior to advising Davis about his service requirements, but he did not. Instead, Meetze relied on his own interpretation of the law.

Petitioner focuses on Bolin v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections, 415 S.C. 276, 781 S.E.2d 914 (Ct. App. 2016), in which the Court of Appeals ruled that the DOC's interpretation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 24-13-100 was "unreasonable." Ironically, though Petitioner argues that trial counsel need not anticipate that the DOC would apply "a contrary and incorrect interpretation . . . temporarily," Petitioner cites to a decision rendered years after Davis' plea and the PCR court's order granting relief in its attempt to undermine that PCR court's reasoning. While Bolin substantiates Davis' and Meetze's claims regarding DOC's interpretation, it does not render Meetze's advice to Davis at the time of his plea on December 6, 2011, correct. Despite Meetze's contrary advise, Davis was subjected to the "eighty-five percent rule" unless earlier paroled.

Petitioner's argument that Davis' parole eligibility rendered Meetze's advice reasonable illustrates the state's continued misapprehension of why plea counsel was found deficient. The classification of Davis' convictions as "parole eligible" is only tangentially relevant, in so far as it dictates the amount of time that he was required to serve to be released. **It was not parole that Davis was promised or desired – it was *release* after service of less than eighty-five percent of his sentence.**

The PCR court's findings may have been vastly different had Meetze couched his advice to Davis as merely his interpretation of the new law or told Davis that he should assume that he would have to serve eighty-five percent even though it may turn out to be less. But, based on the advice as it was actually given, the PCR court properly found that Davis had an obligation to be correct and was not.

### **Prejudice to Respondent**

Both Davis and Meetze testified that the advice on when Davis would be released was integral to Davis' decision to accept the plea offer. Davis testified that had he known that he

would be subject to the “eighty-five percent rule,” he would not have accepted the plea offer. App. 28, l. 9 – 29, l. 23. Meetze testified: “I think that that law reads that you’re not going to have to do 85 percent, and there’s no question that I advised him of that. In my opinion, there’s no question that he relied on that advice when he entered his plea.” App. 43, ll.8-12. Meetze further said: “I gave him wrong advice, and I’m certain he relied on that advice when he entered his plea.” App. 43, ll. 20-22. The PCR court found their testimony credible. App. 68 – 70.

In Hinson v. State, 297 S.C. 456, 377 S.E.2d 338 (1989), this Court found that plea counsel was deficient in misadvising Hinson about his parole eligibility. Regarding prejudice, this Court found that “[t]he evidence is uncontroverted that Hinson entered his plea in expectation of receiving the lesser period for parole eligibility.” 297 S.C. at 458, 377 S.E.2d at 339. While Hinson’s attorney did not remember anything about the case, both Hinson and the attorney for his co-defendant testified to that affect. Id. The court also noted that plea counsel did recall the advice given with regard to parole eligibility and conceded that the advice was incorrect. Id. Thus, this Court found that Hinson had established both prongs of Strickland and was entitled to post-conviction relief. Id. at 459, 377 S.E.2d at 339. Here too, Davis proved both prongs of the Strickland test such that this Court should affirm the grant of PCR relief.

**II. Pursuant to Rule 220, SCACR, this Court should alternatively affirm the PCR court's grant of relief based upon a violation of Respondent's Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process, where Respondent's plea was induced by the representation that he would not be subject to the eighty-five percent service requirement but the Department of Corrections' erroneous statutory interpretation resulted in Respondent being subject to the eighty-five percent requirement of his sentence unless earlier granted parole.**

Assuming *arguendo* that the PCR court erred in finding plea counsel deficient because his advice was based on a reasonable statutory interpretation, Davis is still entitled to relief under his alternative allegation that his due process rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments were violated. While the PCR court did not rule on this allegation, pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR, "an appellate court may affirm the lower court's judgment for any reason appearing in the record on appeal." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406,420-21, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723-24 (2000).

A defendant's guilty plea is more than an admission of conduct; rather, it is a conviction that can deprive him of his liberty or other constitutionally protected interests. Mabry v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 504, 507, 104 S.Ct. 2543 (1984); Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 1712 (1969). Therefore, the entry of a guilty plea implicates the protections of the Due Process Clause of the federal and state constitutions. See U.S. CONST. AMEND. XIV (providing that states may not deprive a person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law); S.C. CONST. ART. I, § 3 (same). Among these protections, the Due Process Clause requires that a defendant enter his guilty plea voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Anderson v. State, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2000).